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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (iF KNOWN} PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
Fort Stover, one of a group of Germanic houses called forts because of their
vaulted cellars, is set at the edge of a steep escarpment facing across the flat
Shenandoah River bottom land to Massanutten Mountain beyond.

The house is & two-story, rubble stone building set with its ridge parallel
to the contours of the hill in such a manner that the basement projects its full
height above grade on the river (west) side allowing ground-~level entry to it
here and ground-level entrance to the first story at the rear.

Fort Stover is three bays wide with the front entrance in the north bay of the
west side. The windows on the west are evenly spaced, but the openings on the first
and the second stories are not aligned. The fenestration on the rear elevation is
irregular. Late 4/4 sash are currently used in all of the windows, which have small
stone jack arches over them., The whole is surmounted by a gable roof and interior
end chimneys, :

The plan of Fort Stover is that of the traditional Rhenish Flurkuchenhaus except
that two end chimneys are used in place of the traditional central stack to give the
house a more up-to-date anglicized appearance.

_ The basement consists of a parrow room running along the north end correspond-
ing with the first-floor kilche and containing a cooking fireplace. From it one steps
down into a vaulted room occupying most of the remainder of the basement level, It
is this vault, with its ventilating openings narrowing to a slit on the exterior,
which is responsible for the belief that the house was intended to serve as a fort.
Actually, it is a traditiomal feature found in the Rhineland and was used to main-
tain a suitably cool temperature for the storage of meats and perishable foods.
Numerous hooks and nails in the ceiling attest to its use in this manner., Steps in
the northeast corner of this room once led to the first floor but have been closed
off, : '

The first floor consists of a narrow kiiche, or kitchen running the width of the
north end of the house; a large stube, or parlor, in the southwest corner; and a
Smaller kammer, or chamber, set off from the stube by vertical sheathing, in the
southeast cormer. In the latter room rises an enclosed winder stair,

The second-floor plan is similar to the first, but the relative sizes of the
spaces corresponding to the kiuiche and the stube/kammer have been reversed. There was,
in addition, originally no partition between the two southern rooms, and the original
partition between the kliche and the stube chambers is made of vertical bevel-edged
sheathing,

On the first floor, the kiiche is relatively plain, Its off-center segmental
fireplace opening has been closed, and it has suffered the loss of some trim.

The stube is decorated with a pedestal chair rail and a molded mantel shelf

running the length of the chimney breast. It has a segmental fireplace opening and
a raised hearth.

(See continuation sheet #2)
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-7. DESCRIPTION

The kammer is now the mos!t spectacularly decorated first-floor room. Besides
2 heavy pedestal chair rail it also has a massive, classically molded shelf with
mushroom~shaped pegs in the fascia mounted just above the door. A similar shelf
has apparently been removed from the kiiche. An original corner cupboard in the
southeast corner of the kapmer was missing by the 1930s.

On the second floor an exposed wmolded square bearing joist runs the
length of the house carrying transverse exposed joists of the same size and with
similar moldings. The large kuche chamber is decorated with a pedestal chair
rail, a molded cornice shelf running the length of the chimney breast, and a
segmental opening. There is a cupboard in the northeast corner between the
chimney and the east wall. It has pegs ingside and is surmounted by a heavy
molded cornice, Its double three~panel doors have been removed but they are
stored in the attic. An enclosed attic stair rises in the southeast corner of
this room. :

The only significant alteration to the house has been the addition of a

frame, shed-roofed kitchen which is supported on posts and attached at first-
floor level over the west kitchen doorway. No early outbuildings survive.
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STATEMENT OF SiGNIFICANCE

. The Stover House, traditionally called Fort Stover, is an outstanding example
of a tramsitional Rhenish house of the late 18th century. Retaining such European
features as a three-room Flurkuchephaus plan, vaulted cellar, and bank siting
the house's end chimneys and three~bay facade reflect the growing acculturation of
Germanic groups to Anglo-American culture in the Shepandoah Valley. BRuilt and long
owned by the Stover family, the house retains most of its original trim and some
early paint in the second floor rooms. It is among the best preserved and least altered
of the important group of 18th-century log and stone German houses of the Massanutten

Settlement,

Daniel Stover first bought land in the Massanutten area from Peter Ruffnaugh
in 1746. At that time_he acquired, for five shillings, 250 acres ''on South River
of Sharendo /Shenandoah/ at the mouth of Hawksbill Creek."” By 1787, Samuel Stover
(d. 1807), the original resident's son and probable builder of the house was
charged in the land tax books with the possession of 694 acres in three parcels, a
holding which changed continually over the course of the next ten years. After Stover's
death his 196 acre home tract passed to his sons Daniel, who got the larger portion,
and Samuel, Jr., who sold his portion to his brother in 1817. Stovers held the
property throughout the antebellum period.

DU, MTP

1 Augusta County Deed Book I, 60, (1746).
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION  The port Stover property is bounded by a line beginning
at a point 200 feet W of the end of the unimproved southern extension of State Route
660, approximately .3 'mile E of South Fork of Shenandoah River; then extending 200 feet
E to intersection with-S side of unimproved extension of State Route 660; then following
5 and W sides of said extension for a distance of a little less than 600 feet; then ex~
tending a little ovér 400 feet WSW; thence extending a little over 400 feet NW to point
of ongln .
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